
Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where
individuals, communities and businesses flourish

General Services Committee

The meeting will be held at 7.00 pm on 26 June 2014

Committee Room 4, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL

Membership:

Councillors John Kent (Chair), Robert Gledhill (Vice-Chair), Mark Coxshall, 
James Halden, Robert Ray, Barbara Rice and Lynn Worrall

Substitutes:

Councillors Chris Baker, Victoria Holloway, Barry Johnson, Tom Kelly, 
Susan Shinnick, Richard Speight and Simon Wootton

Agenda

Open to Public and Press

Page

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Minutes 5 - 8

To approve as a correct record the minutes of General Services 
Committee meeting held on 13 January 2014.

3  Items of Urgent Business

To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

4  Declarations of Interests 

5  Local Government Pension Scheme Discretionary Decision 
Policy Statement 

9 - 42



Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies:

Please contact Steve Jones, Democratic Services Manager by sending an email to 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Agenda published on: 18 June 2014



Information for members of the public and councillors

Access to Information and Meetings

Members of the public can attend all meetings of the council and its committees and 
have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no later than 5 working days 
before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.

Recording of meetings

This meeting may be recorded for transmission and publication on the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
to be recorded.
Members of the public not wishing any speech or address to be recorded for 
publication to the Internet should contact Democratic Services to discuss any 
concerns.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities.
If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have any special 
requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact the 
Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made.
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee.
The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has 
been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not 
disrupt proceedings.
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting.

Page 1

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


Thurrock Council Wi-Fi

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet.

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network.

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept.

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only.

Evacuation Procedures

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk.

How to view this agenda on a tablet device

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app.

Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services.

To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should:

 Access the modern.gov app
 Enter your username and password

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence

Helpful Reminders for Members

 Is your register of interests up to date? 
 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests? 
 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly? 

When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
 relate to; or 
 likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

 your spouse or civil partner’s
 a person you are living with as husband/ wife
 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of 
the Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a 
pending notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer 
of the interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where individuals, 
communities and businesses flourish

To achieve our vision, we have identified five strategic priorities:

1. Create a great place for learning and opportunity

 Ensure that every place of learning is rated “Good” or better 
 Raise levels of aspirations and attainment so that local residents can take advantage 

of job opportunities in the local area 
 Support families to give children the best possible start in life 

2. Encourage and promote job creation and economic prosperity 

 Provide the infrastructure to promote and sustain growth and prosperity 
 Support local businesses and develop the skilled workforce they will require 
 Work with communities to regenerate Thurrock’s physical environment 

3. Build pride, responsibility and respect to create safer communities

 Create safer welcoming communities who value diversity and respect cultural heritage 
 Involve communities in shaping where they live and their quality of life 
 Reduce crime, anti-social behaviour and safeguard the vulnerable 

4. Improve health and well-being

 Ensure people stay healthy longer, adding years to life and life to years 
 Reduce inequalities in health and well-being 
 Empower communities to take responsibility for their own health and wellbeing 

5. Protect and promote our clean and green environment 

 Enhance access to Thurrock’s river frontage, cultural assets and leisure opportunities 
 Promote Thurrock’s natural environment and biodiversity
 Ensure Thurrock’s streets and parks and open spaces are clean and well maintained

Page 4



MINUTES of the meeting of the General Services Committee held on 13 
January 2014 at 2.30 p.m.
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Present: Councillors John Kent (Chair), Barbara Rice (Vice Chair), 
Mark Coxshall, Rob Gledhill (substitute for Councillor 
Anderson), Steve Liddiard (substitute for Councillor Phil 
Smith) and Andy Smith.

Apologies: Councillors Phil Anderson, Barry Palmer and Phil Smith

In attendance: Graham Farrant – Chief Executive
Steve Cox – Assistant Chief Executive
Lindsey Francklin – Business Development Manager
Jackie Hinchliffe – Head of HR, OD & Customer Strategy
Steve Jones – Democratic Services Manager

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Prior to the start of the meeting, the Chair advised all in attendance that the 
part of the meeting that was open to the public to attend was to be recorded 
for publication to the internet.

10. MINUTES

The Minutes of the General Services Committee, held on 12 December 
2013, were approved as a correct record.

11. ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

The Chair informed the Committee that he had not agreed to the 
consideration of any items of urgent business.

12. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

There were no interests declared.

13. LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME EMPLOYER 
DISCRETIONS

The Business Development Manager submitted a report, which 
requested the Committee to implement an addendum to the Councils 
Discretionary Compensation Policy statement relating to the treatment 
of deferred benefits.

A copy of the proposed addendum to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Discretionary Powers Policy was attached to the report for 
Members’ consideration.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Councillor Gledhill queried whether the proposed addendum to the 
Policy would apply if an employee made an application for early 
pension as a result of ill health. The Business Development Manager 
confirmed that this would not apply in such cases and that ill health 
provisions would be dealt with separately as they were contained in a 
different part of the regulations.

Councillor Rice advised Members that she felt that it was correct for the 
Council to have an addition to its policy in order that employees were 
fully aware of their rights under the pensions scheme.

The recommendations in the report were proposed by Councillor Kent.

All Members indicated their agreement to the proposal.

RESOLVED:

1. That the addendum to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme on Discretionary Powers Policy, as set out at 
Appendix 1 to the report, be approved.

2. That no early payments of deferred benefits are approved 
for leavers prior to the 31st March 2008 between age 50 and 
54.

3. That the Business Case process for early termination of 
employment be extended to include decisions on early 
release of deferred benefits for any ex-employees of the 
Council.

14. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED:

That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
the consideration of the following items of business, in 
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
on the grounds that they might disclose exempt information of the 
following category:

Category 1 - Information relating to any individual.

15. OUTSOURCING DIVERSITY SERVICES TO TRUST – PENSIONS 
TRANSFER

The Assistant Chief Executive submitted a report, which sought 
approval to enter into an admitted body status within the Local 
Government Pension Scheme arising from the outsourcing of strategic 
diversity services to TRUST.

Page 6



Members indicated their agreement to the recommendations in the 
report.

RESOLVED:

1. That General Services Committee approve that the Council, 
as the Transferor Scheme Employer, enter into an 
agreement with Essex County Council Pension Fund, as 
Administering Authority, and TRUST as transferee 
admission body, to obtain admitted body status within the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)  arising from 
outsourcing the strategic leadership of diversity issues in 
Thurrock.

2. The Admitted Body agreement risk assessment will be 
reviewed by the Client Manager during the term of the 
contract together with the pension scheme actuaries, and 
the Pension Fund Administrators, Essex County Council 
with the first review date taking place towards the end of the 
agreement.

(The Assistant Chief Executive and Business Development Manager 
left the meeting.)

(The Democratic Services Manager left the meeting at 2.34 p.m.)

(The Democratic Services Manager returned to the meeting at 4.37 
p.m. to record the decision of the Committee.)

16. APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES

The Committee interviewed one candidate that had been short listed 
for the post.

It was proposed by Councillor Kent:

“That Carmel Littleton be offered the post of Director of Children’s 
Services, subject to agreement on salary, start date and the formal 
ratification of Cabinet.”

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Barbara Rice.

All Members indicated their agreement to the proposal.

RESOLVED:

That Carmel Littleton be offered the post of Director of Children’s 
Services, subject to agreement on salary, start date and the 
formal ratification of Cabinet.

Page 7



17. APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR OF ADULTS, HEALTH & 
COMMISSIONING

The Committee interviewed one candidate that had been short listed 
for the post.

It was proposed by Councillor Kent:

“That Roger Harris be offered the post of Director of Adults, Health & 
Commissioning, subject to agreement on salary, start date and the 
formal ratification of Cabinet.”

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Barbara Rice.

All Members indicated their agreement to the proposal.

RESOLVED:

That Roger Harris be offered the post of Director of Adults, Health 
& Commissioning, subject to agreement on salary, start date and 
the formal ratification of Cabinet.

The meeting finished at 4.39 pm.

Approved as a true and correct record

CHAIR

DATE

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact
Steve Jones, telephone (01375) 652107,

or alternatively e-mail sjones@thurrock.gov.uk

Page 8



 

26 June 2014  ITEM: 5 

General Services Committee 

Local Government Pension Scheme Discretionary 
Decision Policy Statement 

Wards and communities affected:  
None 

Key Decision:  
Not applicable 

Report of: Lindsey Francklin, Business Development Manager 

Accountable Head of Service: Jackie Hinchliffe, Head of HR, OD and 
Transformation 

Accountable Director: Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

This report is public 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 2014 came into effect on the 1 
April 2014. Under the conditions of the scheme Thurrock Council is required to 
publish certain discretions, as the employer, on a range of discretions contained 
within the Local Government pension Scheme regulations 2013 and the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Transitional provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 
 
In addition to the new regulations there are other discretionary decisions relating to 
previous regulations that, as the scheme employer, we have already made together 
with any changes due to the new scheme regulations.  
 
Due to the complexity of the scheme and lateness of the transitional regulations 
being published together with the guidance the Council, as the scheme employer, 
must publish these discretions no later than the 1 July 2014,  
 
1. Recommendation(s) 
 
1.1 That the new discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme 

Regulations 2013 and the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 be 
approved. 

 
1.2 That the LGPS discretionary changes under the previous regulations be 

approved. 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) in England and Wales was 

amended from 1 April 2014 so that benefits accruing for service after 31 
March 2014 will accrue on a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) 
basis, rather than on a final salary basis. 

 
2.2 The provisions of the CARE scheme, together with the protections for 

members’ accrued pre 1 April 2014 final salary rights, are contained in the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014. 

 
2.3 As a result of the changes, Scheme employers participating in the LGPS in 

England or Wales will have to formulate, publish and keep under review a 
Statement of Policy on certain discretions which they have the power to 
exercise in relation to members of the CARE Scheme. 

 
2.4 Scheme employers are also required to (or where there is no requirement, are 

recommended to) formulate, publish and keep under review a Statement of 
Policy on certain other discretions they may exercise in relation to members of 
the LGPS. 

 
2.5 Overall, Scheme employers participating in the LGPS in England or Wales:  

 
• are required to formulate, publish and keep under review a Statement of 

Policy on certain discretions in accordance with:  
 
• regulation 60 of the LGPS Regulations 2013,  
• paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, 

Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014  
• regulation 66 of the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Administration) Regulations 2008 (in respect of leavers between 1 
April 2008 and 31 March 2014), and  

• regulation 106 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
1997 (in respect of leavers between 1 April 1998 and 31 March 2008);  

 
• are recommended to formulate, publish and keep under review a 

Statement of Policy on one discretion under the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 1995 (in respect of leavers before 1 April 1998);  
 

• are (other than admission bodies1) required to formulate, publish and keep 
under review a Statement of Policy on certain discretions in accordance 
with regulation 7 of the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006, operative from 1 October 2006;  
 

• are (other than admission bodies2) required to formulate, publish and keep 
under review a Statement of Policy on certain discretions in accordance 

Page 10



 

with regulation 26 of the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2000, operative from 1 October 2000; and are (other than 
admission bodies) required to formulate, publish and keep under review a 
Statement of Policy on certain discretions relating to injury allowances 
under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) 
Regulations 

 
3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1 The new and changed discretions are detailed below relate to the current 

LGPS 2014 regulations and guidance. They also reflect changes to 
discretions approved by the Council for the previous discretionary pension 
policy statement. 

 
3.2 The Discretionary Policy Statements must be clear, unambiguous, having 

regard to overriding equality legislation and should be read in conjunction with 
the Councils Termination of Employment Policy and Business Case guidance. 

 
3.3  Financial implications are considered and approved as part of the Councils 

policy on termination of employment and business case process. 
 

3.4 The report asks for consideration of the employer discretions available within 
the new scheme and costs would need to be borne by the respective 
spending directorate. 

 
3.5 Appendix 1 is the full Discretionary Policy statement 
 

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
 
Discretion  Current decision  April 2014 decision  
Whether, how  much, 
and in what 
circumstances to 
contribute to a shared 
cost additional pension 
contribution (APC) 
scheme 

n/a The Council will not 
contribute to a shared cost 
APC scheme 

Whether to waive, in 
whole or in part 
actuarial reduction on 
benefits on flexible 
retirement  

On completion of a 
Directorate business case 
the Council can waive 
whole or part, actuarial 
reduction on benefits paid 
on flexible retirement  
 

On completion of a 
Directorate business case 
the Council can waive 
whole or part, actuarial 
reduction on benefits paid 
on flexible retirement, 
where the business case 
can show that the service 
can offset any costs 
elsewhere, or, as an 
alternative to redundancy  

Page 11



 

 
Discretion  Current decision  April 2014 decision  
Whether to waive, in 
whole or in part 
actuarial reduction on 
benefits which a 
member voluntarily 
draws before normal 
pension age (NPA) 
 

None  The Council will not waive 
in whole or in part 
actuarial reduction where  
a member voluntarily 
draws benefits before 
NPA  

Whether to grant 
additional pension to an 
active member or within 
6 months of ceasing to 
be an active member by 
reason of redundancy 
or business 
efficiency(up to £6,500 
pa)  

Employers option to 
increase benefits  
Additional Pension  
On completion of a 
Directorate business case 
a maximum of £5,000 
additional pension in the 
Local Government 
Pension scheme where 
the reason is  
 
1) Recruitment from the 
private sector  
2) Early retirement due to 
redundancy  
3) Early retirement on the 
grounds of efficiency 
retirement  
4) Under a retention 
strategy  
5) Under an exit strategy  
To be awarded instead of 
but not in addition to the 
Award of Service  
*The full capital cost must 
be paid within 30 days of 
making the resolution to 
the pension fund 
 

The Council will not grant 
additional pension to 
active members or within 
6 months of ending 
employment by reason of 
redundancy or business 
efficiency  

In determining assumed 
pensionable pay (APP), 
whether a lump sum 
payment made in the 
previous 12 months is a 
“regular lump sum” 

None  Any Lump Sum payment 
made in the previous 12 
months may be included 
in determining APP, if the 
lump sum would have 
been regarded as a 
regular payment  
 

 
 

Page 12



 

 
Discretion  Current decision  April 2014 decision  
Determine whether 
person in receipt of Tier 3 
Ill Health pension has 
started gainful 
employment  
 

None  The Council will review the 
Tier 3 pension at 18 
months and 3 years to 
determine whether the 
person has started gainful 
employment 
 

Whether to recover any 
overpaid Tier 3 pension 
following commencement 
of gainful employment  
 

None The Council will make 
every effort to recover 
overpaid Tier 3 pensions   

Decide whether 
suspended Ill Health Tier 
3 member is unlikely to 
be capable of gainful 
employment before NRA 
because of Ill Health  
 

None  On application to 
Occupational Health and 
referral to a Independent 
registered medical 
practitioner (IRMP),subject 
to that decision, whether 
the member is unlikely to 
be capable of gainful 
employment 
 

Extend normal time for 
acceptance of a transfer 
cost where more than 
one employing authority 
is involved 
 

None  Allow extension of transfer 
cost by an additional 12 
months  

 

Page 13



 

 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions and Savings) 
Regulations 2014 
 
Discretion  Current decision  April 2014 decision  
Whether all or some 
benefits can be paid if 
an employee reduces 
their hours or grade 
(flexible retirement) 

Flexible Retirement can 
be part of an 
organisational 
restructuring programme, 
as an alternative to 
redundancy or as part of 
phased retirement  
 
Stepping Down:  
 
Where a member’s pay in 
a continuous period of 
employment is reduced 
due to the member taking 
lower paid employment or 
with less responsibility, the 
employee may choose to 
have final pay as the 
average of 3 consecutive 
years within a 10 year-
period. 
 
On completion of a 
Directorate business case 
the Council can release all 
or some of the member’s 
accrued pension benefits 
at the time of stepping 
down into lower paid 
employment.  
 
The Council to recognise 
all service as continuous 
where a member has 
been subject of a transfer 
under the Transfer of 
Undertakings (protection 
of employment) 
Regulations 
 

On completion of a 
Directorate business case 
the Council can waive 
whole or part, actuarial 
reduction on benefits paid 
on flexible retirement, 
where the business case 
can show that the service 
can offset any costs else 
where or as an alternative 
to redundancy 

 

Page 14



 

 
Discretion  Current decision  April 2014 decision  
Whether to switch on 
the 85 year rule for a 
member voluntarily 
drawing benefits on or 
after age 55 and before 
age 60 
 

None  The 85 year rule will  not 
be switched on  where 
benefits are taken on or 
after age 55 and before 
age 60  

Whether to waive on 
compassionate 
grounds the actuarial 
reduction applied to 
benefits from pre April 
2014 membership 
where the employer has 
switched on the 85 year 
rule for a member 
voluntarily drawing 
benefits on or after age 
55 and before age 60 
 

None  The 85 year rule will  not 
be switched on  where 
benefits are taken on or 
after age 55 and before 
age 60 and will not be 
waived on compassionate 
grounds 

Whether to waive, any 
actuarial reduction on 
pre and/or post April 
2014 benefits 

None 
 
 

The Council will not waive 
actuarial reductions on pre 
or post April 2014 benefits  
 
Approval will not be given 
to waiver in whole or part 
of any actuarial reduction 
which applies to any 
deferred benefits 
 

Allow late application to 
convert scheme AVC’s 
into membership credit 
i.e. allow applications 
more than 30 days after 
cessation of active 
membership (where AVC 
arrangements was 
entered into before 13 
November 2001 
 

None  Late application will not be 
allowed  

 

Page 15



 

 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (EARLY TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT) 
(DISCRETIONARY COMPENSATION) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2006 
 
Discretion  Current decision  April 2014 decision  
Redundancy payments 
to be based on actual 
weeks pay where this 
exceeds the statutory 
weeks pay 
 

Actual Weeks pay will be 
used in the calculation of 
Redundancy and 
compensation payments 

Actual weeks contractual 
pay (not pensionable pay) 

 
4. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.1 The Council as the Local Government Pension Scheme Employer must 

publish certain discretions within the Local Government Pension scheme 
regulations. 

 
5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1 This report recommendations have been agreed by the People Board and 

fully consulted on with the Trade Unions who are part of the Councils 
collective bargaining agreement. 

 
6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 

impact 
 
6.1 The Councils decisions on the Local Government Pension Scheme employer 

discretions support the Change Policy and Organisational Development 
Strategy. 

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by: Sean Clark 

 Head of Corporate Finance 
 
The Council only budgets for the annual pension deficit payment and the 
ongoing superannuation contributions for current employees.  These 
determinations set out the rules under which additional payments may be 
made.  These are not budgeted and so the cost of which will be reflected 
within the business case and considered as part of that business case. 

Page 16



 

 
7.2 Legal 

 
Implications verified by: Chris Pickering 

 Principal solicitor 
 
This report sets out the statutory obligations on the Council to publish the 
listed discretions. The report sets out the options available but the publication 
of the listed discretions is mandatory 
 

7.3 Diversity and Equality 
 
Implications verified by: Natalie Warren 

 Community Development Manager 
 
Each business decision will be made free from discrimination on the grounds 
of any protected characteristic - age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy & maternity, race, religion and belief, 
sex, sexual orientation or any other personal criteria. 
 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder) 
 
None 

 
8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 

on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright): 

 
• the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
• the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings 

and Amendment) Regulations 2014 
• LGE Guidance on Employer Discretions 
• http://www.lgpsregs.org/ 

 
9. Appendices to the report 
 

• Appendix 1 – Full Discretionary Policy Statement 
 
Report Author: 
 
Lindsey Francklin 
Business Development Manager 
HR & Organisational Development 

Page 17

http://www.lgpsregs.org/


This page is intentionally left blank



 - 1 - 

Local Government Pensions Scheme Policy Statement         Appenndix1 
 
This policy statement is the Council’s approach to the scheme changes that came into effect from 1 April 2014 and the Early Retirement 
options, including reference to the discretions available to employing authorities under the relevant statutory provisions. All Local Authorities are 
required to act with prudence and propriety in respect of early retirement and pensions issues and this policy will be applied in order to ensure:-  
 
• Fairness and equity;  
• Ensure that organisational change is implemented fairly and consistently;  
• Take action to minimise the need for compulsory redundancy;  
• Consult with trade unions at the earliest opportunity.  
 
This policy statement does not confer contractual rights and the Council retains the right to review and amend the policy at any time. It should 
be noted that only the policy, which is current, is relevant at that time and is applied to employees who benefit from any decision. 
 
 
 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013  
 
Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comments  
Whether, how  much, and in 
what circumstances to 
contribute to a shared cost 
additional pension 
contribution (APC) scheme 

16 (2)(e) & 
16 (4)(d) 

The Council will not contribute to a shared cost 
APC scheme 

Excluding where a member chooses, 
within 30 days of their return to work, 
to purchase pension relating to a 
period of authorised leave of absence 

Whether to waive, in whole 
or in part actuarial reduction 
on benefits on flexible 
retirement  

30 (8)  On completion of a Directorate business case the 
Council can waive whole or part, actuarial 
reduction on benefits paid on flexible retirement, 
where the business case can show that the 
service can offset any costs else where, or, as an 
alternative to redundancy 

 

Whether to waive, in whole 
or in part actuarial reduction 
on benefits which a member 
voluntarily draws before 
normal pension age (NPA) 
 

30 (8)  The Council will not waive in whole or in part 
actuarial reduction where  a member voluntarily 
draws benefits before NPA 

 

P
age 19



 - 2 - 

Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comments  
Whether to grant additional 
pension to an active member 
or within 6 months of 
ceasing to be an active 
member by reason of 
redundancy or business 
efficiency(up to £6,500 pa)  

31 The Council will not grant additional pension to 
active members or within 6  months of ending 
employment by reason of redundancy or business 
efficiency 

Please note the £6,500.00 p.a. limit 
includes any pension purchased by 
ARC’s under LGPS 2008 

To whom to offer membership 
of the LGPS (designated 
bodies) 

3 (1)(b) 
Schedule 2, 
part 2  

Membership of other eligible bodies that we offer 
membership to:  
A person is an employee of the governing body  
a)Voluntary Aided school  
b)Foundation school maintained by the Education 
Authority  

This only applies to Designation 
bodies such as Town and Parish 
Councils 

Which employees to designate 
for membership (admission 
bodies) 

3 (1)(b) & 4 
(2)(b) 

1) Community Admissions Bodies – Transferee 
admission body must designate in the admission 
agreement all eligible employees  
2) Allow membership of eligible employees, 
where they have access to the National Health 
Service Pension scheme if by reason of 
employment is a Care Trust 

This only applies to Community 
Admission Bodies and Transferee 
Bodies 

Whether, in respect of an 
admission body providing a 
service of outsourced work, to 
set off against payments due 
to that body any sums due 
from that body to the fund 

Schedule 
2,Part 3, 
para 12 (c) 

All such decision are determined during the 
evaluation of the scheme actuaries report and 
admitted body status risk review  
 

 

Determine rate of employees 
contributions  

9 (1) & 9 (3) Pensionable earnings related bands would be 
increased as notified and assessed at the 1st 
April each year and on commencement of 
employment, Auto Enrolment date or material 
change. Employees will be notified of contribution 
rate by letter and on the pay statement.  
Full details of pensionable pay elements and 
Bands are published on the Council’s intranet site 
 
 
  

Employers continue to have the 
discretion as to how and when they 
allocate/re-allocate a member to a 
contribution band 

P
age 20



 - 3 - 

Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comments  
Whether, how  much, and in 
what circumstances to 
contribute to a shared cost 
AVC arrangements entered 
into on or after 1 April 2014 

17 (1) & 
definition of 
SCAVC in 
schedule 1 

The Council will not contribute to a shared cost 
AVC scheme 

 

No right to return of 
contributions if member left 
due to offence of a fraudulent 
character or grave misconduct 
unless employer directs a total 
or partial refund is to be made 

19 (2) Where it has been found that an employee has 
committed an offence of a fraudulent character or 
grave misconduct against the Council there will 
be no right of return unless a decision is made to 
allow a total or partial refund 

 

Specify in an employees 
contract what other payments 
or benefits other than those 
specified in reg 20 (1)(a) and 
not otherwise precluded by reg 
20(2), are to be pensionable  

20 (1)(b) All payments and benefits which are to be 
included in pensionable pay will be specified and 
published on Inform the Council Intranet site - 
Inform 

This allows an employer to specify in 
a contract that certain emoluments 
(i.e. benefits in kind) are pensionable 
– as long as they are not precluded by 
Reg 20(2).  

In determining assumed 
pensionable pay(APP), 
whether a lump sum payment 
made in the previous 12 
months is a “regular lump sum” 

21 (5)  Any Lump Sum payment made in the previous 12 
months may be included in determining APP, if 
the lump sum would have been regarded as a 
regular payment 

For example, if a member normally 
receives a pensionable lump sum 
payment and they are absent, then an 
employer can “assume” that this 
payment would have been made if the 
member had been at work. Therefore 
can be included in the calculation of 
the members Assumed Pensionable 
Pay 

Whether to extend the 12 
month option period for a 
member to elect that deferred 
benefits should not be 
aggregated with new 
employment  

22 (8)(b) Allow aggregation of period of deferred past the 
12 month period from becoming an active 
member  
 

 

Determine whether person in 
receipt of Tier 3 Ill Health 
pension has started gainful 
employment  

37 (3) & (4)  The Council will review the Tier 3 pension at 18 
months and 3 years to determine whether the 
person has started gainful employment 

Gainful employment means paid 
employment for not less than 30 hours 
per week for a period of not less than 
12 months 

P
age 21



 - 4 - 

Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comments  
Whether to recover any 
overpaid Tier 3 pension 
following commencement of 
gainful employment  

37 (3)` The Council will make every effort to recover 
overpaid Tier 3 pensions   

 

Decide whether deferred 
beneficiary meets criteria of 
being permanently incapable 
of former job because of Ill 
Health and is unlikely to be 
capable of undertaking gainful 
employment before NPA or at 
least 3 years, whichever is the 
sooner  

38 (3)  On application to Occupational Health and referral 
to a Independent Registered Medical 
Practitioner(IRMP) subject to that decision then 
deferred benefits may be awarded 

 

Decide whether suspended Ill 
Health tier 3 member is 
unlikely to be capable of 
gainful employment before 
NRA because of Ill Health  

38 (6) On application to Occupational Health and referral 
to a Independent registered medical practitioner 
(IRMP),subject to that decision, whether the 
member is unlikely to be capable of gainful 
employment 

 

Whether to apply to Secretary 
of State for forfeiture certificate 
where member is convicted of 
a relevant offence  

91 (1) & (8)  Consider on a case by case basis prior to 
applying for forfeiture certificate where the 
employee has been convicted of a relevant 
offence 

 

Where a forfeiture certificate is 
issued whether to direct that 
benefits are to be forfeited (see 
R95)  

91 (4) The Council will direct that benefits are to forfeited 
on a case by case basis on its own merit 

 

Where a forfeiture certificate is 
issued, whether to direct 
interim payments out if the 
Fund until a decision is taken 
to either apply certificate or 
pay benefits  

92 (1) & (2) The Council will direct the interim payment 
process on a case by case basis on its own merit 
 

 

Whether to recover from Fund 
any monetary obligation or if 
less the value of member 
benefit (other than transferred 
pension, APC, AVC, subject to 

93 (2) Allow recovery from fund the monetary obligation 
due to the fraudulent act on a case by case basis 
on its own merit  
 

 

P
age 22



 - 5 - 

R95 GMP) where it is grave 
misconduct, criminal negligent, 
fraud, employment and the 
employee has left the authority 
Whether a member has 
committed treason etc under 
official secrets act forfeiture 
should include the spouse or 
civil partner and any GMP  

95  Allow transfer from fund the monetary obligation 
due to the fraudulent act including spouse or civil 
partner and any GMP value on a case by case 
basis  
 

 

Agree any Bulk Transfer  98 (1)(b) Allow a bulk transfer arrangement in cases of 
transfer of undertaking  
 

 

Extend normal time for 
acceptance of a transfer cost 
where more than one 
employing authority is involved 

100 (68) Allow extension of transfer cost by an additional 
12 months  

 

 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions and Savings) Regulations 2014  
 
Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comments  
Whether all or some 
benefits can be paid 
if an employee 
reduces their hours 
or grade (flexible 
retirement) 

11 (2) On completion of a Directorate business case the 
Council can waive whole or part, actuarial 
reduction on benefits paid on flexible retirement, 
where the business case can show that the 
service can offset any costs else where or as an 
alternative to redundancy 

 

Whether to switch 
on the 85 year rule 
for a member 
voluntarily drawing 
benefits on or after 
age 55 and before 
age 60 
 
 
 

Schedule 2, para 2(2) The 85 year rule will  not be switched on  where 
benefits are taken on or after age 55 and before 
age 60 

Switching on the 85 year rule means 
that there will be a financial strain 
payable by the employer 

P
age 23



 - 6 - 

Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comments  
Whether to waive on 
compassionate 
grounds the 
actuarial reduction 
applied to benefits 
from pre April 2014 
membership where 
the employer has 
switched on the 85 
year rule for a 
member voluntarily 
drawing benefits on 
or after age 55 and 
before age 60 

Schedule 2 para 2(3) The 85 year rule will  not be switched on  where 
benefits are taken on or after age 55 and before 
age 60 and will not be waived on compassionate 
grounds 

 

Whether to waive, 
any actuarial 
reduction on pre 
and/or post April 
2014 benefits 

3(1), Schedule 2, 
paras 2(1) and 2(2), 

The Council will not waive actuarial reductions on 
pre or post April 2014 benefits  
 
Approval will not be given to waiver in whole or 
part of any actuarial reduction which applies to 
any deferred benefits 

 

Whether, how  much, 
and in what 
circumstances to 
contribute to a shared 
cost AVC 
arrangements 
entered into before 1 
April 2014 
 
 

15 (1)(d) Contribution to a shared cost AVC will not be 
applied 

Members who first elected to pay 
AVCs before 13 November 2001 
retained the right to convert their AVC 
fund to scheme membership 

Allow late application 
to convert scheme 
AVC’s into 
membership credit 
i.e. allow applications 
more than 30 days 
after cessation of 

15 (1)(b) Late application will not be allowed   

P
age 24



 - 7 - 

active membership 
(where AVC 
arrangements was 
entered into before 
13 November 2001 
Whether to use a 
certificate produced 
by an IRMP under the 
2008 scheme for the 
purposes of making 
an Ill Health 
determination under 
the 2014 scheme  

12 (6) The IRMP must produce a certificate for all Ill 
Health applications under the 2014 scheme  

 

Whether to allow a 
member to select 
final pay period for 
fees to be 3 
consecutive years 
ending 31st March in 
the 10 years prior to 
leaving  

3(6), 4(6)(c), 8(4), 
10(2)(a), 17(2)(b)  

Members can select the final pay period for fees 
of any three consecutive years ending 31 March 
in any 10 year period  
 

In regard to fee based positions, such 
as Returning Officer 

 
 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (ADMINISTRATION) REGULATIONS 2008 
 
Discretion  Regulation  Current decision  Comments 
Discretions for 
member who cease 
active membership 
after April 2008 and 
before April 2014  

   

No right to return 
contributions due to 
offence of fraud or 
grave misconduct 
unless a partial 
refund is to be made  

47 (2) Where it has been found that an employee has 
committed an offence of a fraud or grave 
misconduct against the Council will be directed 
back to the Council 

 

P
age 25



 - 8 - 

Discretion  Regulation  Current decision  Comments 
CEP in excess of the 
certified amount 
recovered from a 
refund can be 
recovered from the 
Fund  

49 (1) & (2)  Allow Pension fund to retain sum recovered in 
excess of the CA 

 

Whether to apply to 
Secretary of State for 
forfeiture certificate 
where member is 
convicted of a 
relevant offence 

72 (1) & (6) Allow option to request a forfeiture certificate 
following conviction of employment-related 
offences 

 

Where a forfeiture 
certificate is issued 
whether to direct that 
benefits are to be 
forfeited 
 

72 (3) Where it has been found that an employee has 
committed an offence of a fraud or grave 
misconduct against the Council will be directed 
back to the Council  

 

Where a forfeiture 
certificate is issued, 
whether to direct 
interim payments out 
if the Fund until a 
decision is taken to 
either apply certificate 
or pay benefits 

73 (1) & (2)  Not apply the an interim payment process  

Where to recover 
from Fund any 
monetary obligation 
or if less the value of 
member benefit 
(other than 
transferred pension, 
APC, AVC) where it 
is grave misconduct, 
criminal negligent, 
fraud, employment 

74 (2) Allow recovery from fund the monetary obligation 
due to the fraudulent act 

 

P
age 26



 - 9 - 

and the employee 
has left the authority 
Whether to recover 
from fund financial 
loss by fraud or grave 
misconduct where the 
employee has left 
because of that or 
amount of refund of 
less  

76 (2) & (3)  Allow transfer from fund the monetary obligation 
due to the fraudulent act 

 

 
 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (BENEFITS, MEMBERSHIP AND CONTRIBUTIONS) REGULATIONS 2007  
 
Discretion  Current 

Regulation  
Current decision  Comments 

Discretions for 
member who cease 
active membership 
after April 2008 and 
before April 2014  

   

Whether to waive, 
any actuarial 
reduction on pre 
and/or post April 
2014 benefits 

30 (2) 
To grant member 
elections received in 
writing for the early 
release of deferred 
benefits on or after 
age 55 and before 
age 60 on 
compassionate 
grounds. 
 
Any ex member can 
seek employer 
consent to receive an 
immediate payment 
of accrued pension 

  
Approval will only be given on compassionate 
grounds which meets strict criteria.  
 
Approval will not be given to waiver in whole or 
part of any actuarial reduction which applies to 
any deferred benefits 
 
Financial hardship alone is not deemed sufficient 
grounds for early release of deferred benefits 
 
An application will only be considered where an 
ex member has given up paid employment to care 
for a disabled or Ill dependant, who is the sole 
carer of the dependant person and where 
reasonable support is not available   

 

P
age 27



 - 10 - 

benefits and to waive 
actuarial reduction 
 
 
 
 
    

Whether for a 
member leaving on 
the grounds of 
redundancy, 
efficiency on or 
before 31st March 
2014 to augment 
membership 
(upto10 years). 
Made with 6 months 
of date of leaving 
this means the 
resolution will be 
spent by 30th 
September 2014 

12 Employers option to increase benefits  
Awards of Service 
On completion of a Directorate business case a 
maximum of 5 years membership in the Local 
Government Pension scheme where the reason is   
1) Recruitment from the private sector 
2) Early retirement due to Redundancy 
3) Early Retirement on the grounds of efficiency 
retirement 
4) Under an exit strategy 
5) Under a Retention strategy 
 
*Agree method of administration with ECC 

 

Whether to grant 
early payment of 
deferred benefits 
after age 55 before 
age 60  

30&19 Approve payment of early payment of Pension 
Benefit 
1)Retirement on the grounds of efficiency of 
service at age 50 up to 31 March 2010 then age 
55 from 1 April 2010 or new joiners from 1 April 
2008 due to the business requirements of the 
service and the individual’s capacity to meet 
those requirements  
2)Retirement on the grounds of Redundancy 
where staff are age 50 up to 31 March 2010 then 
age 55 from 1 April 2010 or new joiners from 1 
April 2008  
 
The Council adopt the following criteria for the 
implementation of the “85 year” rule 
 

 

P
age 28



 - 11 - 

Discretion  Current 
Regulation  

Current decision  Comments 

Waive on 
compassionate 
grounds the 
actuarial reduction 
on deferred benefits  

30(5)  On compassionate grounds where it is the 
Council’s best interest. 
• Where, an employee with 25 years 

Thurrock service (including Essex County 
Council Statutory Transfer Order), and is 
aged 55 or over 

 
The ‘85’ year rule is being consulted on by DCLG 
regarding the tapered protection arrangements. 
Currently certain staff are protected to 2016 and it 
was the intention of CLG to extend this to 2020 

 

Grant early payment 
of suspended Tier3 
pension after age 55 
before age 60 

 On application to Occupational Health and referral 
to a Independent registered medical practitioner 
subject to that decision then deferred benefits 
may be awarded 

 

Whether deferred 
beneficiary meets Ill 
Health rules  

31 
 

On application to Occupational Health and referral 
to a Independent registered medical practitioner 
subject to that decision then deferred benefits 
may be awarded 

 

Whether a 
suspended Ill Health 
Tier 3  is unable of 
gainful employment  

 On application to Occupational Health and referral 
to a Independent registered medical practitioner 
subject to that decision then deferred benefits 
may be awarded 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 29



 - 12 - 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS) REGULATIONS 2008  
 
Discretion  Current 

Regulation  
Current decision  Comment 

Discretions for 
member who cease 
active membership 
after April 2008 and 
before April 2014  

   

Allow late application 
to convert scheme 
AVC’s into 
membership i.e. allow 
more than 30days 
after cessation of 
active membership  

sch1 & 66(8) & 
former 66(9)(b) 

Not applied  

To accept elections 
after 31.3.1998 from 
members who want 
to count membership 
between 1.4.1972 
and 5.4.1988 for 
widowers pension 

6 Agreed  

 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME REGULATIONS 1997(as amended) 
 
Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comment 
Discretions for 
member who cease 
active membership 
after April 2008 and 
before April 2014  

   

Waive, on 
compassionate 
grounds, the 
actuarial reduction 
applied to benefits 

31(2) & (5) Application received from deferred members will 
only be considered on or after the age of 55 
following an HMRC ruling. 
 
Approval will only be given on compassionate 

 

P
age 30



 - 13 - 

paid early for a post 
31st March 1998 / 
pre 1st April 2008. 
Leaver. 

grounds which meets strict criteria.  
 
Approval will not be given to waiver in whole or 
part of any actuarial reduction which applies to 
any deferred benefits 
Financial hardship alone is not deemed sufficient 
grounds for early release of deferred benefits 
 
An application will only be considered where an 
ex member has given up paid employment to care 
for a disabled or Ill dependant, who is the sole 
carer of the dependant person and where 
reasonable support is not available   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Allow late application 
to convert scheme 
AVC’s into 
membership credit 
i.e. allow applications 
more than 30 days 
after cessation of 
active membership 
(where AVC 
arrangements was 
entered into before 
13 November 2001 

66 (8) & former 66 
(9)(b) 

 Members who first elected to pay 
AVCs before 13 November 2001 
retained the right to convert their AVC 
fund to scheme membership 

Allow late application 
to convert scheme 
AVC’s into 
membership i.e. allow 
more than 30days 
after cessation of 
active membership 

66 (8) & former 66 
(9)(b)  

  

P
age 31



 - 14 - 

 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (EARLY TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT) (DISCRETIONARY COMPENSATION) (ENGLAND 
AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2006 
 
Under Regulation 7 of the Discretionary Compensation Regulations, each authority (other than an Admitted Body) is required to 
formulate and keep under review a policy which applies in respect of exercising their discretion in relation to: 
 
Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comment  
Redundancy 
payments to be 
based on actual 
weeks pay where 
this exceeds the 
statutory weeks pay 

5 Actual weeks contractual pay (not pensionable 
pay)  

 

To award lump sum 
compensation of up 
to 104 weeks pay in 
cases of 
redundancy, 
termination of 
employment on 
efficiency grounds, 
or cessation of a 
joint appointment 

6 A maximum lump sum of 66 weeks severance 
where the sum exceeds £30,000 the difference 
will be paid at 50% inclusive of statutory 
redundancy pay in the case of  
1) Redundancy under the age of 55  
2) Redundancy at any age if the employee is not 
a member of the LGPS  
 
Full details of how severance is calculated will be 
published on the Termination Policy  
 

 

Note: 'local government' means employment with an employer who offers membership of the LGPS to its employees, regardless of 
whether or not the employee chooses to join the LGPS (except where the employer is an Admitted Body). Technically, an 
employee of an Admitted Body (i.e. a body that has applied to the administering authority to allow its employees to join the LGPS 
and has entered into a formal admission agreement) is only employed in 'local government' if he / she is a member of the LGPS. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 32



 - 15 - 

 
Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2000 (as amended) 
 
Under Regulation 26 of the Discretionary Compensation Regulations, each authority (other than an Admitted Body) is required to 
formulate and keep under review a policy which applies in respect of exercising their discretion in relation to: 
 
Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comment 
How to apportion any 
surviving spouse's or 
civil partner’s annual 
compensatory added 
years payment where 
the deceased person 
is survived by more 
than one spouse or 
civil partner  

21(4)  
 

Decision on case by case basis following 
application of survivors spouse or civil partner 

 

Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comment 
How it will decide to 
whom any children's 
annual compensatory 
added years 
payments are to be 
paid where children's 
pensions are not 
payable under the 
LGPS (because the 
employee had not  
joined the LGPS) 
and, in such a case, 
how the annual 
added years will be 
apportioned amongst 
the eligible children  
 
 
 

25(2)  Not applicable – no annual compensatory added 
years paid if the employee was not a member of 
the LGPS.  

 P
age 33



 - 16 - 

Whether, in respect 
of the spouse of a 
person who ceased 
employment before 1 
April 1998 and where 
the spouse or civil 
partner remarries, 
enters into a new civil 
partnership or 
cohabits after 1 April 
1998, the normal 
pension suspension 
rules should be 
disapplied i.e. 
whether the spouse's 
or civil partner’s 
annual compensatory 
added years 
payments should 
continue to be paid  
 

21(7)  Decision on case by case basis following 
application of survivors spouse or civil partner 

 

If, under the 
preceding decision, 
the authority's policy 
is to apply the normal 
suspension rules, 
whether the spouse's 
or civil partner’s 
annual compensatory 
added years payment 
should be reinstated 
after the end of the 
remarriage, new civil 
partnership or 
cohabitation  
 
 
 

21(5)  
 

Not applied  

P
age 34



 - 17 - 

Whether and to what 
extent to reduce or 
suspend the 
member's annual 
compensatory added 
years payment during 
any period of re-
employment in local 
government  

17  
 

Not applied i.e., no reduction  

How to reduce the 
member's annual 
compensatory added 
years payment 
following the 
cessation of a period 
of re-employment in 
local government  

19  
 

Not applied i.e., no reduction  

 
Discretions under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996 (as amended 
 
Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comment 
Amount of injury 
allowance following 
loss of employment 
through permanent 
incapacity after 
sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease 
as a result of 
anything required to 
do in carrying out 
duties of job. 

34(2) and 38 No scheme will be adopted  

Suspend or 
discontinue injury 
allowance if person 
becomes capable of 
working again 

34(4) No scheme will be adopted  

P
age 35



 - 18 - 

Amount of injury 
allowance following 
reduction in pay after 
sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease 
as a result of 
anything required to 
do in carrying out 
duties of job 

35(3) and 38 No scheme will be adopted  

Amount and duration 
of injury allowance 
following cessation of 
employment where 
reg 35 payment was 
being made but reg 
34 does not apply. 
 
 

36 No scheme will be adopted  

Amount and duration 
of a dependant’s, 
spouse’s or civil 
partner’s  injury 
allowance following 
death of employee 
after sustaining an 
injury or contracting a 
disease as a result of 
anything required to 
do in carrying out 
duties of job. 

37(3), 37(6) and 38 No scheme will be adopted  

Reinstate spouse’s or 
civil partner’s injury 
allowance following 
earlier cessation due 
to cohabitation, 
remarriage or 
registration of a new 
civil partnership 

37(4) No scheme will be adopted  

P
age 36



 - 19 - 

Amount of death in 
service gratuity 
payable to surviving 
dependant, spouse or 
civil partner 

40 No scheme will be adopted  

Amount or retirement 
gratuity payable 

41 No scheme will be adopted  

Amount of gratuity 
payable to surviving 
dependant, spouse or 
civil partner where 
amount of annuity 
payments fall short of 
their capital value at 
date of award 
 
 

41(4) No scheme will be adopted  

Amount if redundancy 
gratuity payable 

42 No scheme will be adopted  

Amount of gratuity 
payable to surviving 
dependant, spouse or 
civil partner where 
amount of 
redundancy annuity 
payments fall short of 
their capital value at 
date of award 

42(4) No scheme will be adopted  

Amount of gratuity 
payable to any other 
surviving dependant, 
spouse or civil 
partner where 
amount of annuity 
payments paid under 
42(4) fall short of their 
capital value at date 
of award 

42(7) No scheme will be adopted  

P
age 37



 - 20 - 

Formulate and keep 
under review the 
injury allowance and 
gratuity policies to be 
operated by the 
authority 

46A No scheme will be adopted  

 
Discretions under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 
 
Under Regulation 14 of the Injury Allowances Regulations, each LGPS employer (other than an Admitted Body) is required to 
formulate, publish and keep under review a policy which applies in the exercise of its discretionary powers to make any award in 
respect of leavers, deaths and reductions in pay that occurred post 15.01.12 in relation to: 
 
Discretion  Regulation  April 2014 decision  Comments 
Whether to grant an 
injury allowance 
following reduction in 
remuneration as a 
result of sustaining an 
injury or contracting a 
disease in the course 
of carrying out duties 
of the job.  

3(1)  No scheme will be adopted   

Amount of injury 
allowance following 
reduction in 
remuneration as a 
result of sustaining an 
injury or contracting a 
disease in the course 
of carrying out duties 
of the job.  
 
 
 
 
 

3(4) and 8  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

P
age 38



 - 21 - 

Determine whether 
person continues to 
be entitled to an 
injury allowance 
awarded under 
regulation 3(1).  
 

3(2)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Whether to grant an 
injury allowance 
following cessation of 
employment as a 
result of permanent 
incapacity caused by 
sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease 
in the course of 
carrying out duties of 
the job.  
 

4(1)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Amount of injury 
allowance following 
cessation of 
employment as a 
result of permanent 
incapacity caused by 
sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease 
in the course of 
carrying out duties of 
the job.  
 

4(3) and 8  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Determine whether 
person continues to 
be entitled to an 
injury allowance 
awarded under 
regulation 4(1). 
 

4(2)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

P
age 39



 - 22 - 

Whether to suspend 
or discontinue injury 
allowance awarded 
under regulation 4(1) 
if person secures 
paid employment for 
not less than 30 
hours per week for a 
period of not less 
than 12 months.  
 

4(5)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Whether to grant an 
injury allowance 
following cessation of 
employment with 
entitlement to 
immediate LGPS 
pension where a reg 
3 payment was being 
made at date of 
cessation of 
employment but reg 4 
does not apply. 

6(1)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Determine whether 
and when to cease 
payment of an injury 
allowance payable 
under regulation 6(1)  
 

6(2)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Whether to grant an 
injury allowance to 
the spouse, civil 
partner, nominated 
co-habiting partner or 
dependent of an 
employee who dies 
as a result of 
sustaining an injury or 

7(1)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

P
age 40



 - 23 - 

contracting a disease 
in the course of 
carrying out duties of 
the job.  
 
Determine amount of 
any injury allowance 
to be paid under 
regulation 7(1)  
 

7(2) and 8  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Determine whether 
and when to cease 
payment of an injury 
allowance payable 
under regulation 7(1)  
 

7(3)  
 

No scheme will be adopted   

Whether to adopt a 
discretionary injury 
benefit scheme  
 

14 The Council will not be adopting a discretionary 
injury benefit scheme for current and deferred 
members 

 

 

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	5 Local Government Pension Scheme Discretionary Decision Policy Statement
	THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (EARLY TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT) (DISCRETIONARY COMPENSATION) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2006
	Appendix 1 - LGPS 2014 discretions statement
	Awards of Service
	THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS) REGULATIONS 2008
	THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME REGULATIONS 1997(as amended)
	THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (EARLY TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT) (DISCRETIONARY COMPENSATION) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2006



